IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 14 1990

CLERK, SURREME COURT

Deputy Clerk

TIMOTHY ALEXANDER ROBINSON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 74,945

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

LAURA E. KEENE Florida Bar No. 312835 Beroset & Keene 417 East Zaragoza Street Pensacola, Florida 32501 Phone: (904) 438-3111 Attorney for Appellant,

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE.

VII

/

VIII

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The following references shall be used in referring to the Record on Appeal and to the parties: Record on Appeal shall be referred to as (R-page number of record); Defendant, TIMOTHY ALEXANDER ROBINSON, shall be referred to as Appellant; the State shall be referred to as Appellee.

This Appeal is filed by the Defendant/Appellant, TIMOTHY ALEXANDER ROBINSON, from the Judgment and Sentence and denial of the Defendant's Motion for New Trial. Appellant was found guilty of four counts of first degree murder; one count of attempted first degree murder; six counts of kidnapping with a firearm; two counts of sexual battery with a firearm; one count of conspiracy to traffic in more than 400 grams of cocaine; one count of burglary of a dwelling with assault with a firearm; and two counts of robbery with a firearm. (R-2431) Upon conviction, the Defendant was sentenced to death on four counts each consecutive to the other, as well as 10 life sentences, and an additional 90 years incarceration. (R-2568) From the Judgment, Sentence and Order Denying Motion for New Trial, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on October 24, 1989. (R-2648)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Testimony was presented at trial to the effect that an organization known as the "Miami Boys", headquartered in Miami, Florida, operated a drug distribution organization throughout the State of Florida, essentially distributing crack cocaine to a series of lieutenants and workers living in different parts of the state. The organization was headed by RONALD WILLIAMS. This testimony was presented at trial by several workers for the organization. (R-613, 641, 766, 1597) The supervisor of the Pensacola drug distribution area was BRUCE FRAZIER. BRUCE FRAZIER had an apartment in Pensacola where he resided and where the crack cocaine and proceeds from the sale therefrom were kept. (R-649, 721, 727) Upon receipt of a shipment of crack cocaine, BRUCE FRAZIER would distribute the drug through several sellers from the Truman Arms apartment complex located in Pensacola. (R-649 through 650) Upon sale, the money was returned to BRUCE FRAZIER who kept it in a safe at his apartment at the Beauclair apartment complex. (R-650, 682)

In August, 1988, RONALD WILLIAMS, head of the Miami Boys, drove to Jacksonville, Florida, with a number of other individuals. WILLIAMS met Appellant in Jacksonville, where WILLIAMS revealed that he was in possession of a large quantity of cocaine. (R-646) This group of individuals went to Pensacola, Florida, the next day, where the cocaine was

left with BRUCE FRAZIER for distribution. (R-648) Upon sale, the money was deposited in BRUCE FRAZIER'S safe. (R-682)

BRUCE FRAZIER'S girlfriend, RENEE GRANDISON, lived at Truman Arms, which complex was a major distribution point for BRUCE FRAZIER'S cocaine. (R-738) Immediately prior to September 20, 1988, RENEE GRANDISON and BRUCE FRAZIER argued, at which time GRANDISON threatened to notify the police of BRUCE FRAZIER'S drug involvement. (R-743) As a result, BRUCE FRAZIER directed that the safe containing the crack cocaine and the money be moved from his apartment to the apartment of MICHAEL MCCORMICK. McCORMICK was а worker for the organization and occupied a duplex apartment with MILDRED BAKER. The other side of the duplex was rented by DEREK HILL and MORRIS ALPHONSO DOUGLAS.

Shortly after the safe was relocated to McCORMICK'S apartment it was stolen by DEREK HILL and MORRIS ALPHONSO DOUGLAS who took the safe to the home of DARLENE CRENSHAW, also known as TINA CRENSHAW. (R-1179) Present at the time the two men forced open the safe, in addition to TINA CRENSHAW, was one AMANDA MERRILL. (R-1181) Upon opening the safe, several thousand dollars in cash and a quantity of crack cocaine was discovered. (R-1182, 1183, 1214) CRENSHAW took the money, placed it in a pillowcase and hid it in a closet in her home. (R-1183) She was also given the cocaine, which she placed in a duffle bag and hid in her car. (R-1184) HILL and DOUGLAS left CRENSHAW'S home, but returned a few hours

later, at which time they gave some money to MERRILL and CRENSHAW and then the four went to the dog track in Pensacola. (R-1184)

The four parties eventually returned to DEREK HILL'S apartment to eat dinner. (R-1185) In response to a knock on the door DEREK HILL opened the door and MICHAEL McCORMICK, who had originally been given the safe for safekeeping, was pushed inside by three men later identified as Appellant, MICHAEL COLEMAN, and BRUCE FRAZIER, all of whom were carrying guns. (R-1186) McCORMICK, who was talking loudly, told DEREK HILL "these people want their stuff, and they're not playing." (R-1294) DEREK HILL pretended not to know to what McCORMICK was referring. (R-1294) Appellant told everyone to sit down and shut up as everyone was excited. (R-1294) Appellant made everyone take off their clothes, and searched the area for weapons. (R-1295) During this period of time, Appellant took a ring from AMANDA MERRILL (R-1305) and some jewelry from TINA CRENSHAW. (R-1192, 1193)

Appellant hit McCORMICK with his gun several times and then pointed the gun in everyone's face, stating "somebody better start talking and start talking fast." Appellant then struck DEREK HILL, subsequently stabbing HILL with a knife obtained from the kitchen. (R-1297) TINA CRENSHAW raised her hand and stated that she knew where the safe was located, at which point Appellant removed her to a bedroom. (R-1297) BRUCE FRAZIER accompanied Appellant, returning shortly to the

other room to inquire as to where TINA CRENSHAW'S clothes were located and then took the clothes back into the bedroom. (R-1297)

At approximately the same time DARRELL FRAZIER came to the apartment accompanied by MILDRED BAKER. (R-1298) MILDRED BAKER was also directed to remove her clothing, and was left at the apartment, tied up, with DEREK HILL, MORRIS ALPHONSO DOUGLAS, MICHAEL MCCORMICK, and AMANDA MERRILL. (R-1299 through 1300) BRUCE FRAZIER and DARRELL FRAZIER left the apartment with TINA CRENSHAW and drove her to her house to retrieve the safe.

Once at CRENSHAW'S home, DARRELL FRAZIER told her all he wanted was to get this "stuff" back. (R-1189) CRENSHAW told DARRELL FRAZIER that the duffle bag with the cocaine was in her car, which he retrieved and put in his own car. (R-1190) DARRELL FRAZIER was admitted to CRENSHAW'S home by CRENSHAW'S mother, while CRENSHAW remained in DARRELL FRAZIER'S car. (R-1190) DARRELL FRAZIER began to search CRENSHAW'S home, and unable to find the money returned to his car. CRENSHAW was then untied and she returned to the home with DARRELL FRAZIER and retrieved the pillowcase with the cash. (R-1190, 1191) As DARRELL FRAZIER left CRENSHAW'S home CRENSHAW closed the door, shutting both of the FRAZIERS outside. (R-1192) DARRELL FRAZIER and BRUCE FRAZIER then returned to DEREK HILL and MORRIS ALPHONSO DOUGLAS' duplex. (R-1192)

While the FRAZIERS and TINA CRENSHAW were gone, Appellant and MICHAEL COLEMAN had each engaged in involuntary sexual relations with MILDRED BAKER and AMANDA MERRILL. (R-1300, 1301) Appellee presented testimony at trial to the effect that a DNA sample taken established that Appellant had engaged in sexual activity with both AMANDA MERRILL and MILDRED BAKER. (R-1040, 1044)

AMANDA MERRILL, who had been moved to a bedroom, testified she heard someone enter the apartment, supposedly one of the FRAZIERS, and state that they had obtained their "stuff". (R-1303) That individual stated, "We got what we want, come on, let's go". (R-1303) Appellant stated, "No, AMANDA MERRILL then I am going to do this." (R-1303) testified that she heard a gunshot in the other room. (R-1303) At approximately the same time MICHAEL COLEMAN entered the bedroom and cut AMANDA MERRILL'S neck with a knife. (R-1303) MERRILL then heard additional shots, and MICHAEL COLEMAN again returned to the bedroom and cut her neck a second and then a third time. (R-1303, 1304) MERRILL then testified that she heard MILDRED BAKER telling the occupants of the other room that she would tell them what she knew, after which MERRILL heard additional gunshots. (R-1304) Someone then returned to MERRILL'S room, and shot her. (R-1304)

After the men had left the apartment AMANDA MERRILL untied herself, left the apartment, and called 911. (R-1305)

The four other individuals who had been left at the apartment, HILL, McCORMICK, BAKER, and DOUGLAS, died.

Ι

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY IMPOSED THE DEATH PENALTY THEREBY OVERRIDING THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE WHEN THE JURY HAD A REASONABLE BASIS FOR ITS RECOMMENDATION.

II

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY ADMITTED THE RESULTS OF DNA TESTING.

III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REQUIRING THAT APPELLANT BE SHACKLED DURING HIS TRIAL.

IV

APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL PURSUANT TO HIS SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT REPEATEDLY DENIED APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR A CONTINUANCE OF HIS TRIAL.

V

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY ALLOWED APPELLEE TO PLACE BLOODY KNIVES ON THE JURY BOX BAR THEREBY DENYING APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

VI

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SEVER HIS CASE FROM THAT OF THE CODEFENDANTS.

VII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE.

VIII

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO THE CONSPIRACY COUNT AS THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF THAT CONSPIRACY.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant asserts that the Trial Court improperly imposed the death penalty after the jury recommended life sentences for the four murders. This recommendation was made on a 6-6 vote. This votes indicates that reasonable men could differ as to the appropriate sentence. The jury had a reasonable basis upon which to make their recommendation and such recommendation should not have been overridden by the Trial Court. The jury could have easily considered testimony relative to Appellant's upbringing, family ties, health, intellect, personality, education, emotional development, lack of prior felony convictions for crimes of violence, as well as the background of the victims.

Appellant asserts that the Trial Court improperly admitted the results of DNA testing allegedly linking Appellant to the charged offenses. The Trial Court failed to conduct an evidentiary hearing prior to admission of the evidence to determine the reliability of that evidence, although Appellant requested such a hearing. The Trial Court failed to consider whether the evidence is generally accepted as reliable in the relevant scientific field, whether existing techniques are capable of producing reliable results, and whether those procedures were properly employed in analyzing the samples in Appellant's case. Additionally, Appellant did not receive the results of the DNA testing, the

expert's notes or report until immediately prior to trial. Although allowed to take a telephonic deposition approximately 12 days prior to trial, no written material or reports were available at the time the deposition was taken. Appellant was denied a reasonable opportunity to prepare a defense to the DNA testing, as the Trial Court refused to grant Appellant a continuance.

Appellant asserts that the Trial Court erred in requiring that Appellant be shackled throughout his trial. Such shackling is fundamentally prejudicial. The Trial Court provided no explanation for the shackling. Although an attempt was made to conceal with a piece of cardboard the fact that Appellant was shackled, the cardboard was obvious to the jury and at one point during the trial fell over although defense counsel attempted to replace the cardboard with his foot. This situation prejudiced Appellant's position and interfered with his presumption of innocence.

denied that he Appellant asserts was а fundamentally fair trial because of the Trial Court's repeated denials of his Motions for Continuance. Appellant alleged that the preparation of his defense was incomplete for a variety of reasons, including the fact that Appellee furnished the names of witnesses immediately up to the time of trial, all of the witnesses had not been deposed, transcripts of the depositions had not been received, the results of the DNA testing were received immediately prior to

trial, and Appellee amended the Indictment on the morning of trial.

Appellant was denied a fundamentally fair trial because the prosecutor was allowed to place bloody knives on the jury box which action was done solely for the purpose of inflaming the jury. In light of the other problems surrounding Appellant's case, this err was not harmless.

The Trial Court improperly denied Appellant's Motion to sever his case from that of the Codefendants as Appellant could not obtain a fair trial without severance. The testimony presented concerning Appellant's involvement with "the Miami Boys" as well as drug dealing was tenuous, whereas the testimony concerning the Codefendants showed substantially more involvement. The lack of severance apparently confused the jury, as evidenced by their question concerning the DNA evidence. The jury's confusion impaired Appellant's right to a fair trial.

The Trial Court erred in denying Appellant's Motion for Change of Venue in that pretrial publicity precluded Appellant from obtaining a fair and impartial jury. Some of the information elicited from prospective jurors indicated that they had received information in the media which would make it difficult to be fair and impartial, and pretrial publicity was so extensive as to preclude Appellant receiving a fair trial in Pensacola.

Appellant alleges there was insufficient evidence to convict him of Count 14 of the Amended Indictment charging him with conspiring to traffick in cocaine. At most, Appellee proved mere presence on the part of Appellant at the time others possessed cocaine. No evidence was presented concerning an expressed or implied agreement between Appellant and others to traffic in cocaine.

ARGUMENT

Ι

THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY IMPOSED THE DEATH PENALTY THEREBY OVERRIDING THE JURY'S RECOMMENDATION OF LIFE WHEN THE JURY HAD A REASONABLE BASIS FOR ITS RECOMMENDATION.

Upon conviction, and at the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended that the Trial Court sentence Appellant to life in prison for the four first degree murder counts. (R-2449) This recommendation was made on a 6-6 vote. The Trial Court chose to disregard this recommendation, and sentenced Appellant to four consecutive sentences of death. (R-2568) The Trial Court abused its discretion by so doing, as the jury had several reasonable bases upon which it could have relied in making its recommendation of life, and further because the Trial Court supplied an insufficient basis in its Sentencing Order. (R-2582)

This Court in <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1975), established a standard by which Trial Courts are to be guided in determining an appropriate sentence in homicide cases. This Court held that under the death penalty statute a jury recommendation should be given great weight, and that the Legislature intended something especially heinous, atrocious or cruel when it authorized the death penalty for first degree murder. The Court further found that in order

death following a to sustain a sentence of jury recommendation of life, the facts suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ. Tedder at 910. This Court further noted that it is apparent that all killings are atrocious, and that the Defendant exhibited cruelty, by any standard of decency, in allowing his injured victim to languish without assistance or the ability to obtain However, the Court indicated that the assistance. "especially" heinous, intended something Legislature atrocious or cruel when it authorized the death penalty for first degree murder.

To override a jury recommendation of life the Trial Court must present sufficient reasons as to which all reasonable men would agree that death was the appropriate sentence. It was incumbent upon the Trial Court to search the record to determine if there is any reasonable basis for the jury's life recommendation, and if so a sentence of life should have been imposed.

The jury, having been instructed on the applicable law concerning the imposition of the death penalty, theoretically made its recommendation after weighing the aggravating and mitigating factors presented as well as any conflicts in the testimony. Having duly considered both the aggravating and mitigating factors presented, the jurors made their recommendation of life as the result of a proper

analysis. The Trial Court is consequently presented with the proposition that the jurors held that a reasonable basis existed for a life recommendation sufficiently strong to outweigh the applicability of any aggravating factors. The Trial Court should have imposed the jury's recommended sentence of life even though the Trial Court obviously disagreed with the jury's analysis of the aggravating and mitigating factors. The Court should have resolved all conflicts in the evidence in a light most favorable to the conclusion reached by the jury.

In Ferry v. State, 507 So.2d 1373 (Fla. 1987), the Defendant's sentence of death over the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment was vacated by this Court after a jury's recommendation finding that the could not be overridden by the Trial Court reweighing relevant aggravating and mitigating circumstances where the jury could reasonably have based their recommendation on proven mitigating factors that the Defendant was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance and that his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired. In Ferry, the State argued that the Trial Court's override was proper because the Trial Court Judge is the ultimate sentencer and his Sentencing Order represented a reasonable weighing of the relevant aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The State asserted that this Court should view a Trial Court's

Sentencing Order with a presumption of correctness and, when the Order is reasonable, this Court should uphold the Trial Court's sentence of death. This Court specifically rejected the State's theory in <u>Ferry</u>. This Court noted that under the State's theory there would be little or no need for a jury's advisory recommendation, since the Supreme Court would need to focus only on whether the sentence imposed by the Trial Court was reasonable, and this is not the law. The Court noted that the fact that reasonable people <u>could</u> differ on what penalty should be imposed renders the override improper.

In <u>Harmon v. State</u>, 527 So.2d 182 (Fla. 1988), this Court again vacated a sentence of death based upon a jury This Court held that the Trial Court erred in override. sentencing the Defendant to death because reasonable people could have concluded that the mitigating factors presented outweighed any proven aggravating factors. The Court held that because the facts are not so clear and convincing that reasonable person could differ that death was the no appropriate penalty, the Trial Court erred in overriding the jury recommendation of life, citing Amazon v. State, 487 So.2d 8 (Fla. 1986). In Amazon this Court found that the jury could have found the crime sufficiently serious to warrant first degree murder convictions but that the combination of a "depraved mind" defense and the possible mitigating factors presented mitigated against а recommendation of death. Consequently, the facts were not so

clear and convincing that no reasonable person could differ that death was the appropriate penalty.

Pursuant to <u>Barclay v. Florida</u>, 463 U.S. 939, 962-963, 103 S.Ct. 3418, 77 L.Ed.2d 1134 (1983), once the Trial Court has examined the record for evidence supporting the jury's life recommendation and finds no such basis, the Court can then conduct its own examination of the evidence presented as well as the specifics concerning the Defendant's individual character. In <u>Barclay</u>, supra, the United States Supreme Court upheld Florida's death penalty statute on the basis that the class of offenders for whom a sentence of death is appropriate is clearly defined by the statute's procedure. In the case at bar, the Trial Court failed to examine the record to determine whether or not the jury had a reasonable basis for making its recommendation of life.

The Court noted that it had considered assorted testimony relative to Appellant's upbringing, family ties, health, intellect, personality, education and emotional development. The Court stated that he had also considered the victims' backgrounds. The Court made a factual finding that the evidence establishes that Appellant has maintained close family ties throughout his young life and has been supportive of his mother. (R-2586) The jury too no doubt considered the many factors mentioned by the Court in its Order. The Court's finding that Appellant "has maintained close family ties throughout his young life and has been

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