IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TIMOTHY ALEXANDER ROBINSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 74,945

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE MAR 6 1991

CLERK, SHPREME COURT By. Deputy Clerk

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On February 28, 1989, Timothy Alexander Robinson, Michael Coleman and Darrell Frazier were indicted by a Grand Jury in and for Escambia County, Florida, on seventeen counts: four counts of first degree murder of Derek Hill, Morris Douglas, Michael McCormick and Mildred Baker, respectively; one count of attempted first degree murder of Amanda Merrell; six counts of kidnapping of Derek Hill, Morris Douglas, Michael McCormick, Mildred Baker, Amanda Merrell, and Darlene Crenshaw, respectively; two counts of sexual battery of Amanda Merrell and Mildred Baker; one count of conspiracy to traffic more than 400 grams of cocaine; one count of burglary of a dwelling; and two counts of robbery of Amanda Merrell and Darlene Crenshaw. (RA 2101-2105). A corrected indictment was filed May 23, 1989. (RA 2106). A number of pretrial motions were filed in Robinson's behalf, including a motion to compel; motion to appointment experts; motion for individual and sequestered voir dire; motion to vacate the death penalty; motions in limine; motions for disclosure of grand jury proceedings; motion for statement of aggravating circumstances; motion for production of favorable evidence; motions regarding the appropriateness of the death penalty; a motion for a list of prospective jurors in advance of trial; motion to produce photographs; motion for production of police reports; motion for pretrial rulings on admissibility of penalty phase evidence; a motion for additional peremptory challenges; a motion to declare 921.141, Fla.Stat., unconstitutional; a motion to declare 922.10, Fla.Stat., unconstitutional; motions to suppress in-court

- 1 -

identification of Timothy Robinson; a motion to suppress evidence of DNA typing; a motion to compel production of records, documents, manuals and other evidentiary materials; a motion to dismiss the indictment and a motion for change of venue.

Trial commenced on May 22, 1989, and verdicts were returned on June 1, 1989. (RA 2415-2423). The penalty phase of Robinson's trial commenced on June 2, 1989, culminating in a jury's recommendation of life by a 6-6 vote (TR 2096). The trial court imposed the death penalty over the jury's recommendation and on September 26, 1989, entered its written findings. (RA 2582-2587). A guidelines scoresheet was also prepared. (TR 2581). Robinson filed his notice of appeal October 24, 1989.

The facts as set forth by Appellant are supplemented with the following recital. This Court's attention is directed to the findings of fact provided by the trial court in its sentencing order as a succinct accounting of what transpired leading up to and during the commission of the crime on September 20, 1988. (RA 2582-2584). The trial court observed:

"Timothy Robinson, Darrell Frazier, Bruce Frazier and Michael Coleman were residents of Miami, Florida, who supervised and were associated with a cocaine distribution enterprise headed by Ronald Williams. The enterprise reached as far as Pensacola, Florida, and employeed intermediate associates to oversee streetlevel employees responsible for the distribution and sale of quantities of cocaine which were usually sent from Miami in minimum lots of one kilo for subsequent division and sale. On or about September 18, 1988, local members of the enterprise became

- 2 -

concerned over the security of their operations and moved a safe containing a large quantity of cocaine and cash from one apartment to another apartment occupied by Michael Anthony McCormick, one of the enterprise's street-level employees. Adjacent to his duplex apartment, resided Derek Devon Hill and Morris Alphonso Douglas. Shortly after the safe and its contents were deposited at McCormick's apartment, Hill and Douglas gained entry to it and removed the safe and its contents to the home of a female acquaintance, Darlene Crenshaw.

Angered by the theft of their drugs and money, members of the enterprise, including the defendants Robinson, Coleman and Frazier, began to search Pensacola for their property. This search ultimately took them to the duplex apartment of Hill and Douglas. Near midnight of September 19, 1988, or in the early morning hours of September 20, 1988, Hill and Douglas were entertaining Amanda Merrell and Darlene Crenshaw at their apartment when they heard a knock at their door. As Hill opened the door, McCormick was pushed through it by three armed men, defendants Robinson and Coleman and Bruce Frazier. In the aftermath that followed, the four occupants of the apartment along with McCormick were first completely undressed and then tied up face down with electrical cords. About this time, defendant Darrell Frazier brought in McCormick's girlfriend, Mildred Baker, and she was subjected to the same treatment. Defendant Robinson began to demand the whereabouts of all the cocaine and money stolen from the enterprise. When his demands went unanswered, Robinson began to stab Hill while the other

- 3 -

defendants physically assaulted some of the other hostages with kitchen knives. At this point, Darlene Crenshaw volunteered she knew the location of the missing property and agreed to show defendants its location. As she departed with the Frazier brothers, Robinson instructed Darrell Frazier to kill Crenshaw if she presented any problems. After they departed, Coleman and Robinson each sexually assaulted Mildred Baker and Amanda Merrell at the apartment.

meantime, Darrell Bruce Frazier, and having In the retrieved the contraband and having returned to Hill's and Douglas' apartment, informed Robinson of their success. Without provocation, there began a senseless carnage. Coleman first attempted to kill Amanda Merrell by slashing her throat several Still conscience, she heard several shots and then times. Mildred Baker plead with Robinson to spare her life. She then heard another shot and nothing further from Baker. Immediately thereafter, someone came up behind Amanda and shot her in the back of the head. But this wound proved not to be fatal. After the assailants left the premises, Merrell was able to free herself and to summon assistance. Investigators who arrived in response to her call found at the scene the four bound, mutiliated bodies of Hill, Douglas, McCormick and Baker, each of whom had been slashed, stabbed and shot and the base of the skull. Merrell, along with Darlene Crenshaw, who had been able to escape unharmed from Darrell and Bruce Frazier, were able to identify their abductors and assailants. Robinson, Coleman and Darrell Frazier were eventually arrested and brought to trial.

- 4 -

Bruce Frazier remained a fugitive. At the conclusion of the guilt phase of the trial, Robinson was found guilty of four counts of first degree murder; one count of attempted first degree murder; six counts of armed kidnapping; two counts of sexual battery with a weapon; one count of conspiracy to traffic in more than 400 grams of cocaine; one count of armed burglary of an occupied dwelling; and two counts of armed robbery." (RA 2582-2584).

Additional facts were derived from a number of witnesses who testified to the drug dealings that occurred in Pensacola, Florida, and to the parties involvement in said dealings. Arabella Washington was called by the State and testified that on September 20, 1988, Bruce Frazier's brother, Darrell "Yoge" Frazier stopped by her house and asked to use her phone. After he spoke to someone on the phone, Darrell Frazier asked her to take him and his buddies to the Jacksonville Airport (TR 1068-1069). On the way, they stopped at the Gateway Mall at which time three black men exited from a black mustang, went into the Zayre's Department Store and returned to her car. (TR 1071). They changed clothes in her car with clothing purchased from the Zayre's Department Store. (TR 1075). Ms. Washington said that the clothes they put on were beige colored uniforms. (TR 1075-1076). She gave a description of each of the individuals (TR 1099, 1100-1103), and testified that when she was first approached by the police she told them nothing because she was afraid. She knew one of the three men who entered her car to be Bruce Frazier's brother, Darrell, and she identified the other

two people as a tall, thin dark man who had gold teeth and another black man who was not as tall and a little more stocky.

Cassandra Pritchett was also called to the stand by the State. She testifed that she knew Michael Coleman (TR 1147-1148), and that before Thanksgiving in 1988, Coleman gave her a ring and watch (TR 1148-1149). She ultimately turned the ring and watch given to her by Coleman over to the police authorities. (TR 1149).

Mary Grady testified that she was acquainted with Amanda Merrell and that she had allowed Amanda to wear her ruby and diamond ring (TR 1175-1176). Ms. Grady was able to identify the ring given to Cassandra Pritchett as the ring Ms. Grady allowed Amanda Merrell to wear just prior to the murders. (TR 1176).

Darlene Crenshaw testified that she knew Amanda Merrell for approximately five years (TR 1178). She met Derek Hill and Morris "Bo" Douglas at the dogtrack several days prior to the date of the murders. (TR 1178-1179). Two days before the incident on Sunday night, Derek and Bo came over to her home and asked if they could leave something in the house. Bo and Derek took a safe from out of the trunk of their car and put it in a 1981 Honda Accord parked in Darlene Crenshaw's driveway. (TR 1180). The next day they came over the took the safe out of the trunk, brought it in the back yard and opened it. Although Darlene did not actually see the safe being opened, she did observe that after Bo and Derek went to the back yard, they returned with crack slabs broken down into twenty-three bags and a great deal of money. (TR 1181-1183). Darlene took the money

- 6 -

and hid in a pillow case in the closet of one of the bedrooms and Bo and Derek took the drugs and put it in a green duffle bag belonging to Darlene's husband and left it in her car. (TR 1183-Bo and Derek left for a couple of hours and when they 1184). returned, Darlene Crenshaw, Amanda Merrell, Bo and Derek all went to the dogtrack at approximately 7:00 p.m. (TR 1184). After all the races were run, they left the dogtrack at approximately 10:45 p.m. and went to Foster's Bar-B-Que Restaurant on Navy Boulevard (TR 1185). They took their food and went to Derek's apartment at Gulf Beach Highway in Pleasant Grove and arrived at approximately Darlene Crenshaw testified that they 11:05 p.m. (TR 1185). started to eat their food and Derek put on a tape when suddenly there was a knock at the door. Derek answered and a "quy came in" and three other black men followed him. (TR 1186). The three black men that followed were armed and at that point, Derek asked what was up. Derek was pushed down on the couch and "Red", Timothy Robinson, told him he wanted his stuff. They were told not to say anything and instructed to undress (TR 1186). Darlene Crenshaw testified that it looked like the first guy who entered through the door was a hostage and that the guys behind him were One of the other black men with a weapon holding guns on him. went throughout the house searching around; another pulled electrical cords and wiring; and the third man told them all to undress (TR 1187). During this period, one of the black men started Derek in the shoulder. Darlene Crenshaw raised her hand and told the three men that she knew where the money was. She was immediately carried to another room and asked what she knew.

- 7 -

She told them about Derek and Bo bringing the money and drugs to She was given her clothing, she got dressed and was her home. then carried back into the living room. They tied her up and (R 1187-1188). Bruce and carried her out the front door. Darrell Frazier accompanied Darlene Crenshaw to her home. (TR When she got there, one of the black men went to her 1189). front door and gained entry. When he could not locate the drugs and money, he returned to the car and Darlene accompanied him back into the house and retrieved both the drugs and the money. Darlene was able to close the front door behind Darrell Frazier (TR 1192). While she was The two men then left. and lock it. at the apartment, and told to undress, the men took her jewelry, in particular a watch, ring and earrings. She testified that she did not give the jewelry up willingly but did so at gunpoint (TR 1193). As soon as the men left her home, she took her mother and kids and left the house and rode around the remainder of the evening (TR 1193-1195).

Willa Crenshaw, Darlene's mother, took the stand and testified that at approximately 12:20 a.m., September 20, 1988, a black man came to her door and identified himself as Terry. He said that he was sorry he had awakened her but he wanted to retrieve a package Tina had left there that afternoon. Darrell Frazier walked in the house and into Tina's room where the children were asleep and after he rummaged around a moment, came back out. (TR 1235-1237). He returned a few minutes later with Tina and at that point, Tina took him to the bedroom next to the children's room. Mrs. Crenshaw testified that she heard talking

- 8 -

but there were whispering and she could not make out what was being said. When Tina and Frazier got to the door, Tina pushed him out and slammed the door and shut it. She positively identified one of the persons as Darrell Frazier, the individual who entered her home that evening. (TR 1238). Mrs. Crenshaw testified on cross examination that she had a good look at him because he was standing under the porch light. She testified that he was about five feet eight inches tall but did not observe any gold teeth in his mouth (TR 1241).

Amanda Merrell testified that she met Bo and Derek in August of 1988, at the Pensacola Dog Track. She again saw them on September 20, 1988, at the dogtrack when the came to pick her up and asked her to go with them to Tina's house. (TR 1286). When they arrived, they pulled their car into the driveway and took a safe out of the trunk. They brought the safe out back and opened it, using Tina's father's tools. (TR 1287-1288). Tina and Amanda were sitting on the carporch and did not see them actually open the safe. When Bo and Derek returned, however, they had drugs and money (TR 1289). Before he left, Derek gave Tina the money to hide in the closet in the house and they hid the drugs in a duffle bag in Tina's car. Amanda Merrell testified that Bo and Derek returned several hours later around All four went to the dogtrack (TR 1290-1291). 7:00 p.m. After they left the dogtrack at approximately 10:45 p.m., and after stopping at Foster's Bar-B-Que, they went to Derek's house at Gulf Beach Highway, approximately ten minutes away (TR 1292). The group started eating and Derek put a tape on the VCR. Amanda

- 9 -

testified she heard a knock. (TR 1293). Derek answered the door and Amanda Merrell testified that a big man known as "Gas", appeared at the door. Behind him was "Red", "Max", and little guy named "Jit", all carrying guns except for "Gas". (TR 1294). Michael McCormick ("Gas"), came in the door and said to Derek that these guys wanted their stuff and they were not playing around (TR 1294). "Red" told everyone to sit down and shut up. Everyone was made to strip and one of the men searched the area looking for guns. When no one would talk as to where the stuff was, "Red", Timothy Robinson, started to beat up McCormick.

Amanda Merrell was able to positively identify "Red" as Timothy Robinson and "Max" and Michael Coleman (TR 1296). "Red" told everyone to start talking and then he went into the kitchen and returned with a knife. He proceeded to start stabbing Derek Amanda Merrell testified Tina in the shoulder. (TR 1297). raised her hand and said that she knew where the drugs and money were located. "Red" took her to the other room and questioned Moments later, "Jit" came out and asked which were Tina's her. (TR 1297). clothes and returned to the bedroom with them. Amanda Merrell testified, Bo, Derek, Tina, herself and three guys that had entered the apartment, "Gas", "Jit" and the girl who had just been brought in the apartment, Mildred, were present (TR "Red" told Darrell Frazier and his brother, Bruce, to 1298). take Tina to the apartmente and that if she tried to escape they were to kill her (TR 1299). After they left, "Red" told "Max", Coleman, if anyone said anything to start shooting, starting with Amanda. (TR 1299). Everyone was tied up with extension cords

and electrical wiring at their hands and ankles and they were made to lie face down on the floor.

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